IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE No. SC00-82 L.T. Case No. 5D99-1483

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL-WEST VOLUSIA, INC.,

a Florida not-for-profit corporation,

Appellant/Petitioner,

v.

NEWS-JOURNAL CORPORATION,

a Florida corporation,

Appellee/Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF MEMORIAL HOSPITAL-WEST VOLUSIA, INC.

ON REVIEW OF A CERTIFIED QUESTION OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

Arthur J. England, Jr., Esq. Brenda K. Supple, Esq. Greenberg Traurig, P.A. 1221 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 Telephone: (305) 579-0500

Facsimile: (305) 579-0723

Counsel for Memorial Hospital-West Volusia, Inc.

Introduction

This is the second appearance of this case before the Court in connection with a 1998 statute enacted by the Florida Legislature to exempt from the state's public records and open meetings laws those private corporations which lease hospital facilities from public entities. As a question of great public importance, the Fifth District Court of Appeal has certified the question of whether the 1998 statute operates with retroactive effect.

In a prior opinion, the Court had declined to pass on the validity of the 1998 statute and indicated that the statute should not be given retroactive effect. Following remand proceedings, the Fifth District determined that the Court's reference to retroactivity was non-binding, and it made an independent determination that the 1998 statute was intended by the legislature to have retroactive effect and met all legal requirements for retroactivity. Being sensitive to the Court's mention of retroactivity in its prior opinion, and satisfied that the issue of retroactivity had not been "squarely before the Court," the Fifth District certified the question of retroactivity for full consideration by the Court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The factual and procedural information needed for this appeal is largely set out in three prior appellate decisions in this case:

- News-Journal Corp. v. Memorial Hospital-West Volusia,
 695 So. 2d 418 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997), referenced in this brief as the
 "News-Journal" decision;
- Memorial Hospital-West Volusia v. News-Journal Corp.,
 So. 2d 373 (Fla. 1999), referenced as the "Memorial Hospital" decision; and

3. *Memorial Hospital-West Volusia v. News-Journal Corp.*, 747 So. 2d 473 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999), referenced as the "*Memorial II*" decision.

In 1982, the Florida Legislature enacted section 155.40, Florida Statutes (1983), to allow non-profit corporations to lease hospital facilities from independent special taxing districts. Pursuant to that statute, Memorial Hospital was formed as a private corporation to lease and operate a public hospital in Deland from the legislatively-created, independent taxing district known as the West Volusia Hospital Authority ("the Hospital Authority"). *Memorial Hospital* at 378. A lease agreement was executed by the parties in mid-1984.

Several months after the lease was executed, the News-Journal brought suit against the hospital to gain access to its meetings and records. (R. 41-228). The hospital defended the lawsuit on the basis that it was not subject to the Sunshine laws because it was not acting on behalf of a public agency. *Memorial Hospital* at 376. The trial court ruled in favor of the hospital, but that decision was reversed by the district court in the *News-Journal* decision under the common law principles flowing from this Court's decision in *News and Sun-Sentinel Co. v. Schwab, Twitty & Hanser Architectural Group, Inc.*, 596 So. 2d 1029 (Fla. 1992). *News-Journal*, 695 So. 2d 418.

The hospital then sought and was granted review by this Court. Before the Court issued any decision in the case, however, and in direct response to the district court's *News-Journal* decision, the Florida Legislature enacted a statute to provide that the records of a private corporation which leases a public hospital are confidential and exempt from disclosure, and that the corporation's governing board meetings are private and exempt from public access when the corporation meets certain enumerated criteria. Chapter 98-330, Laws of Florida, now codified

as section 395.3036, Fla. Stat. (1999). For the Court's convenience, this statute will be cited in this brief without including "Laws of Florida," and will be referenced frequently simply as "the 1998 statute." The full text of the statute, and the supporting legislative findings and declarations of intent, are set out both in the *Memorial Hospital* decision and in the record of this proceeding at S.R. 349-53.

The 1998 statute, which became effective on May 30, 1998, provided that it "shall apply to existing leases and future leases" between hospital districts and private managing corporations. Ch. 98-330, § 4. The News-Journal called the 1998 statute to the Court's attention following oral argument in *Memorial Hospital* (S.R. 250), and the Court ordered supplemental briefs "as to the effect, if any, the recent enactment has on this case." (S.R. 301).

In response to the Court's request for briefs, the hospital essentially argued that the Court could not and should not consider the effect of the statute on this case due to lack of jurisdiction. (S.R. 303-18). The News-Journal answered that the Court could and should consider the new statute, and asserted that it was facially unconstitutional. (S.R. 319-426). The issue of retroactivity was mentioned by the News-Journal in a footnote of its brief, as the third of three basic issues bearing on the new law's effect on the pending case.

Third, is the Act to be given retroactive effect? Although the Act clearly should be confined to prospective effect [citation], that alone would not negate its effect on the pending cause [since even a prospective application would interdict the News-Journal's requested relief as of its effective date].

(S.R. 329). Retroactivity was not otherwise mentioned in the News-Journal's supplemental brief.

The hospital's supplemental reply brief re-asserted that the Court should not consider the effect of the statute on the appeal at all, but stated that if it did the

statute should be found constitutional. (S.R. 427-50). Retroactivity was nowhere mentioned or discussed by the hospital.

In due course, the Court rendered a decision affirming the district court's determination that the hospital is subject to the Sunshine laws under the common law principles of *Schwab*. The opinion of the Court noted the enactment of the 1998 statute, but held that the Court was not deciding its constitutionality and that any determination of constitutional considerations should be raised through a circuit court proceeding. *Memorial Hospital* at 384. Immediately following that discussion, the Court's opinion states:

In any event, we reject the contention that the amended statute shall apply retroactively.

 $Id.^1$

The hospital moved for rehearing, and so far as is relevant here asked the Court to remove from its opinion the one sentence concerning retroactivity, inasmuch as that issue had not been presented, argued or briefed. (S.R. 451-54). The News-Journal opposed rehearing on the primary ground that the motion was improper re-argument, and for other reasons. (S.R. 458-71). The Court denied rehearing without opinion. (S.R. 472).

In response to the Court's decision, the Florida Legislature amended section 155.40 to exempt from the Sunshine laws certain private corporations which lease hospital facilities from public entities. Ch. 99-356, § 6, Laws of Florida. That new statute is not at issue before the Court.

Justice Overton wrote a dissent which discussed the tension between the courts and the legislature regarding the applicability of the Sunshine laws to hospitals in the position of Memorial Hospital, stating that he would address the 1998 statute and find it facially constitutional, and stating his opinion that the statute met all requirements for retroactive application. *Id.* at 384-88.

Following issuance of this Court's and the district court's mandates, the News-Journal moved in circuit court to enforce its right of access to Memorial Hospital's records and minutes for the time period prior to the enactment of the 1998 statute — that is, from the date of the filing of its lawsuit in December 1994 to May 30, 1998. (R. 302-49).² At a hearing on the News-Journal's motion (R. 1-40), the court recognized the difficulty of reconciling the Court's *Memorial Hospital* decision with the 1998 statute when the courts and the legislature are "diametrically opposed branches of government." (R. 32). The court then ruled in favor of the News-Journal's motion for access to records and minutes of the hospital predating the 1998 statute, in order "to go with the Supreme Court statement rejecting the contention that the statute will apply retroactively." (R. 33). A formal order was duly entered granting the News-Journal's motion (R. 354-56), with access stayed since the appeal

might be a great opportunity for the Fifth to get a chance to do something consistent with the Supreme Court opinion. Maybe they

_

In the meantime, the hospital had filed a declaratory action in Volusia County Circuit Court in accordance with the Court's directive that the constitutionality of the statute should be pursued in a circuit court proceeding. Seventh Judicial Circuit Court Case No. 99-30725-CICI 31. That case is still pending, with a hearing on cross-motions for summary judgment presently scheduled for April 14.

would figure out what that means and help me out a little bit, because I'm absolutely baffled.

(R. 35).

The hospital appealed the trial court's ruling that the 1998 statute did not have retroactive effect. The parties briefed and orally argued two issues: whether the 1998 statute was retroactive; and what (if any) effect should be given to the sentence contained in the *Memorial Hospital* decision that the 1998 statute did not have retroactive application. The district court issued a decision which held that the legislature *did* intend the statute to operate retroactively, but it certified the issue of retroactivity in light of the Court's sentence to the contrary on the following rationale:

We are aware that the supreme court said in [Memorial Hospital], that "we reject the contention that the amended statute shall apply retroactively." Because this was said by the court after having declined to decide the constitutionality of the statute and because the issue was not squarely before the court, it is only fair for the parties to be allowed to proceed in the supreme court to address the issue. . . . It is at least arguable that the legislature intended the legislation to be remedial and thus retroactive when the law enacting the statute specifically sought to correct a situation it deemed "to create uncertainty" and "to create a disincentive for private corporations to enter into . . . lease agreements in the future." Thus, the legislature was correcting a situation "created" by this court in News-Journal.

Memorial II, 747 So. 2d at 473 (citations omitted). A copy of the district court's decision is attached as Appendix 1 to this brief.

Memorial Hospital then perfected its invocation of the Court's jurisdiction to decide the certified question.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court has determined that the retroactivity of section 395.3036 was not determined by the Court as a matter of binding precedent in *Memorial Hospital*. On the basis of a complete analysis of the legislative history of the statute and applicable laws, the district court has properly determined that the statute was intended by the legislature to have retroactive effect and met all legal requirements for retroactivity. The court's certified question should be answered in the affirmative.

ARGUMENT

The district court has certified for the Court's plenary review whether section 395.3036 should be applied retroactively. The legislature's intent that the statute be given retroactive effect is found in the statute's text and legislative findings. A complete analysis of the common law principles governing the enactment of statutes having retroactive effect, and an awareness of the interaction between the courts and the legislature on this precise statute, establishes the validity of the legislature's action in making this statute retroactive in its application.³ That analysis is not foreclosed by the Court's one-sentence reference to the contrary in the *Memorial Hospital* decision.

Constitutional issues concerning the legislature's authority to enact the statute under Article I, section 24(c) of the Florida Constitution, are being decided in the circuit court proceeding noted above in footnote 2, and are not before the Court.

I. The Court's comment on the retroactivity of the 1998 statute in the *Memorial Hospital* decision is not binding precedent which prevents analytical consideration of that issue in this appeal.

The district court was persuaded that the retroactivity of the 1998 statute was not squarely before the Court in *Memorial Hospital* and that, consequently, the Court's comment on retroactivity in that opinion was not binding precedent. The evolution of the statute, and the Court's records, support the district court's judgment on that question.

The district court knew, of course, that its *News-Journal* decision had not addressed the retroactivity of the 1998 statute, inasmuch as that law was enacted after and in response to the court's decision. The merits briefs of the parties in the *News-Journal* case dealt with an application of the *Schwab* factors to the records and meeting minutes of the hospital. (S.R. 109-65, 166-224, 225-49).

When review of that decision was granted by the Court and the merits of the case were under consideration, the situation was initially the same. The Court's records establish that it was only after oral argument, and before the Court had issued any decision in the case, that supplemental briefs were requested as to the effect of the 1998 statute on the pending proceeding, if any. The Court's records further establish that the briefs which were filed by the parties contained no mention of a retroactive effect for the statute other than in one footnote in the News-Journal's supplemental answer brief, where it simply posed three possible issues implicated by the statute's enactment. No discussion or argument was presented on the issue of retroactivity by either party.

The Court's *Memorial Hospital* opinion, issued on May 16, 1997, affirmed the district court's determination that an application of the *Schwab* factors to the facts of this case warranted an application of the Sunshine laws to Memorial Hospital's records and meeting minutes. The Court specifically noted the enactment of the 1998 statute, but declined to consider its constitutionality. In one sentence, though, the Court did say that it rejected the contention that the statute was retroactive.

On rehearing, the hospital sought removal of that sentence from the opinion on the ground that the issue of retroactivity had neither been argued nor briefed. The News-Journal opposed rehearing on the usual grounds, asserting primarily that the hospital's motion "improperly reargues the merits of the Court's decision" and "misconstrues the Court's construction of the 1998 [statute]" (S.R. 458, 462), and arguing that the issue had been presented by its footnote. The Court issued a form order denying rehearing. (S.R. 472).

The News-Journal has acknowledged that the only mention of retroactivity to the Court by either party came in the footnote in its supplemental answer brief. (R. 25). It argued to the district court, however, that retroactivity must have been decided in *Memorial Hospital* because the question of retroactive effect was essential to the Court's decision in order to obviate "mootness" caused by the new statute.

Based on the contentions of the parties, the district court was faced with three threshold issues regarding retroactivity in light of the uncontroverted facts as to what transpired in connection with issuance of the Court's *Memorial Hospital* decision. The hospital argued binding precedent in Florida to the effect that issues raised only in a footnote of an appellate brief are not

presented for review or eligible for substantive determination. The hospital argued that statements in an appellate court opinion on an issue that is not presented, briefed or argued cannot be a "decision" in the case, but *dicta*. The News-Journal argued that, despite the legal principles identified by the hospital, the issue of retroactivity was essential to the *Memorial Hospital* decision in order to obviate mootness.

These threshold issues are addressed here.

A. Issues raised only in a footnote of an appellate brief are not presented or eligible for substantive determination.

It is elementary that arguments which are not made as a point on appeal... but are found only in footnote in the appellant's brief, are not properly presented to the appellate court for review.

E.g., R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Co. v. Engle, 672 So. 2d 39, 41 n.1 (Fla. 3d DCA), review denied, 682 So. 2d 1100 (Fla. 1996).

This principle of appellate review has long governed practice in this Court. *Coolen v. State*, 696 So. 2d 738, 742 n.2 (Fla. 1997); *Kaufman v. Bernstein*, 100 So. 2d 801, 803 (Fla. 1958) (prior to the abolition of assignments of error) ("an offhand reference [in a footnote] does not properly present for determination by this court the propriety of any ruling"). *See also Simkins Industries, Inc. v. Lexington Ins. Co.*, 714 So. 2d 1092, 1093 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998).

The News-Journals' footnote reference to retroactivity did not contain "argument" on the issue, in any event. It merely mentioned retroactivity of the 1998 statute as one of three issues the News-Journal believed was implicated by the enactment. As evidenced by the district court's determination that the 1998 statute was retroactive after it heard argument on

the issue in briefs and in oral presentations, full briefing by the parties can make a difference on a legal issue of this significance.

B. Statements in an appellate opinion on an issue which is not formally presented, argued or briefed do not constitute a "decision" of the Court which is binding on other tribunals.

The Court's sentence on the retroactivity of the 1998 statute appeared in the *Memorial Hospital* opinion without any pre-decision argument or discussion of the issue by the parties. In light of that situation, the district court believed that the Court's statement was *dicta*, and not binding as a holding of the Court on the merits of the question. The district court's belief is well-grounded in precedent from this Court, and from other appellate decisions which address the question.

The Court has held that points will not be considered on appeal unless they are properly raised and discussed in the parties' briefs. *E.g., City of Miami v. Steckloff,* 111 So. 2d 446, 447 (Fla. 1959); *Foley v. State ex rel. Gordon,* 50 So. 2d 179, 182 (Fla. 1951). The district courts have followed the Court's lead in this regard. *E.g., Clark v. Department of Professional Regulation, Bd. of Medical Examiners,* 463 So. 2d 328, 334 n.3 (Fla. 5th DCA), *review denied,* 475 So. 2d 693 (Fla. 1985).

The Court has also held that issues which are "neither presented, briefed nor argued" by the parties, yet are referenced in a court's decision, are non-binding dicta. Spector v. Glisson, 305 So. 2d 777, 784 (Fla. 1974). Accord, Kent v. Burdick, 573 So. 2d 61, 63 n.1 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990). The Court has repeatedly said that statements which are not essential to an appellate decision are simply "without force as precedent." State ex rel. Biscayne Kennel Club v. Board of Business Regulation, 276 So. 2d 823, 826 (Fla. 1973);

Pell v. State, 97 Fla. 650, 122 So. 110 (Fla. 1929); Dade County v. Brigham, 47 So. 2d 602 (Fla. 1950); State v. Florida State Improvement Comm'n, 60 So. 2d 747, 750 (Fla. 1952) (en banc). Accord, Bunn v. Bunn, 311 So. 2d 387, 389 (Fla. 4th DCA 1975).

It is noteworthy that the Court's comment on retroactivity appears after seven pages of analysis on the applicable common law principles of *Schwab*, and the Court's express decision *not* to consider the constitutionality of the statute in that decision. *Memorial Hospital*, 729 So. 2d 373-384. The Court's declination to address the issue of constitutionality adds force to the district court's belief that its one-sentence mention of retroactivity was not essential to any aspect of the Court's decision, and should be treated as *dicta*. *See e.g., Tillman v. Falconer*, 735 So. 2d 487, 489 n.1 (Fla. 4th DCA), *dismissed*, 727 So. 2d 906 (Fla. 1998), holding that a discussion about the rules of procedure was *dicta* in light of the court's holding that the rules of procedure were not applicable to the case.

C. The Court's denial of rehearing did not cure the absence of argument and briefing by the parties.

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