IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC00-82 L.T. Case No. 5D99-1483

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL-WEST VOLUSIA, INC., a Florida not-for-profit corporation,

Appellant/Petitioner,

v.

NEWS-JOURNAL CORPORATION, a Florida corporation,

Appellee/Respondent.

CORRECTED ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF NEWS-JOURNAL CORPORATION

On Review of a Certified Question of Great Public Importance From the Fifth District Court of Appeal

> Jonathan D. Kaney Jr. Fla. Bar No. 0115251 Jonathan D. Kaney III Fla. Bar No. 0023426 COBB COLE & BELL Post Office Box 2491 150 Magnolia Avenue Daytona Beach, FL 32115-2491 Telephone (904) 255-8171 Facsimile (904) 238-7003 Counsel for News-Journal Corporation

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Court properly reached and decided the issue of retroactivity in its *West Volusia* decision. The issue was raised by the supplemental pleadings and briefings. Moreover, the Court has the inherent jurisdiction to notice any new development of law that has the potential to render a pending matter nonjusticiable as moot. As the retroactivity issue was essential to the decision, it is binding law of the case at this time.

On the merits, the Court properly rejected retroactivity. The legislature did not expressly command, nor clearly indicate an intention, that the act should apply retroactively. Even if it had

done so, the act could not constitutionally be applied retroactively because it abrogates the substantive right of access vested in every person in Florida under the Sunshine Amendment.

West Volusia, Inc., is wrong to suggest that the legislature holds the unfettered power to abrogate the right of access. On the contrary, section 24(c) explicitly states a standard of review under which the legislature is authorized to balance competing public necessities against the right of access subject to judicial review as necessary to enforce the express mandatory provisions of the declaration of rights.

ARGUMENT

I. THIS COURT PREVIOUSLY ANSWERED THE CERTIFIED QUESTION IN THE NEGATIVE.

This case comes to the Court in a curious posture. Scarcely more than a year after the Court stated in this case, "[W]e reject the contention that [section] 395.3036] shall apply retrospectively," West Volusia at 384, the certified question asks "Should section 395.3036 be applied retroactively?" West Volusia This is an elaborate and inappropriate request for *II* at 473. reconsideration based on the district court's conclusion that it would be "only fair" to give West Volusia, Inc., another chance to arque this point here. In light of the fact that West Volusia, Inc., disdained its first chance to argue the issue when this Court properly rejected retroactivity, the Court would be justified in

summarily answering the question in the negative, dismissing the appeal, or denying review.

A. The Court's rejection of retroactivity is a decision on an essential point of law and is not dictum.

West Volusia, Inc., argues the issue has not been decided because the rejection of retroactivity was dictum. Since that would obviously render the entire *West Volusia* decision moot, West Volusia, Inc., argues further that the Court indeed harbored the unstated intention to render a moot decision. Through this tortured reasoning, West Volusia, Inc., would justify its continuing refusal to abide by the mandate of this Court.

On the contrary, News-Journal submits there can be no intellectually honest doubt that this Court intended to reject retroactivity, decide the case on the merits, and grant effective relief as to preenactment records. There are numerous reasons. First, as the trial court concluded, this is the only possible interpretation of the statement "reject[ing] the contention that the act shall apply retroactively." *West Volusia* at 384. Second, Justice Overton emerged from conference certain that the Court's decision had "overruled a major legislative policy decision" by rejecting his contention that the act was retroactive. *Id.* at 388 (Overton, S.J., dissenting). Third, West Volusia, Inc., thus construed the opinion in its motion for rehearing when it said, "[T]he Court has stated [the act] shall **not** apply retroactively."

conceded in the district court that "a majority of the Court . . . did not agree with Justice Overton that the statute should be applied retroactively." DCA IB 20. Fifth, the district court understood that the decision on retroactivity was a binding holding because it AFFIRMED the Final Judgment. *West Volusia II* at 473. Sixth, the Fourth District understood this Court to hold the statute nonretroactive. *Indian River County Hospital District v. Indian River Memorial Hospital, Inc.*, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D320 (Fla. 4th DCA Feb. 2, 2000).

The argument that retroactivity has not been decided turns on whether the rejection of retroactivity was dictum. West Volusia, Inc., argues that it was dictum because it was not properly before the Court, was not properly briefed and argued, and was not essential to the decision because the Court silently invoked an exception to mootness.

This argument is infected with a logical fallacy because it begs the question. If the Court intended to render an efficacious decision granting relief as to preenactment records, then the rejection of retroactivity was essential to the holding and therefore not dictum. On the other hand, if the Court did not intend to reject retroactivity, then that rejection was dictum and the entire opinion rode silently on an exception to mootness. Thus the argument that the Court intended to decide a moot case depends on the contention that the rejection of retroactivity was dictum, but the argument that the rejection was dictum depends on the

contention that the Court intended to render a moot decision. It is an unbroken circle.

B. The issue of retroactivity was properly before the Court, and the Court had jurisdiction to decide the issue.

Just as there is no question that the Court intended to reject retroactivity on the merits, there can be no question that the Court had the power to decide that issue regardless of the form and content of the supplemental pleadings and briefs. The Court has the duty to notice new legislation affecting a pending case. E.g., Board of Public Instruction of Orange County v. Budget Commission of Orange County, 167 So. 2d 305, 307 (Fla. 1964) (remanding case in light of subsequent legislation notwithstanding stipulation of parties that act should be ignored). The Court further has the jurisdiction to determine any issue arising from the legislation and affecting its jurisdiction or the justiciability of the case. Cantor v. Davis, 489 So. 2d 18, 20 (Fla. 1986) (holding appellate court must decide case based on law in effect at time of decision and may decide any issue affecting the case); Florida Patient's Compensation Fund v. Von Stetina, 474 So. 2d 783, 788 (Fla. 1985) (explaining that "[h]aving determined that we should apply the [subsequent act], we will proceed to consider its constitutionality Trushin v. State, 425 So. 2d 1126, 1130 (Fla. 1982)"); (holding that "[o]nce an appellate court has jurisdiction, it may, if it finds it necessary to do so, consider any item that may affect the case").

When the Court notices and considers the effect of a new act, it must determine whether the act has rendered the pending case nonjusticiable as moot. *E.g.*, *Polk County Hospital District v*. *Snively*, 162 So. 2d 657, 659 (Fla. 1964) (remanding case in light of new act despite legislative declaration of no intent to moot the case).

Even if on its own motion, it is always necessary and proper for a court to consider any question that goes to its jurisdiction or the justiciability of a pending case. State v. Taylor, 82 So. 604 (Fla. 1919) (dismissing appeal sua sponte on judicial notice that subsequent legal development deprived the Court of the ability to grant effective relief to a party). In Montgomery v. Dept of HRS, 468 So. 2d 1014, 1016 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), the court observed that "[m]ootness can be raised by the appellate court on its own motion." Id., citing Dehoff v. Imeson, 15 So. 2d 258, 259 (Fla. 1943) (holding case is moot "when the controversy has been so fully resolved that a judicial determination can have no actual effect" and dismissing sua sponte); and Barrs v. Peacock, 61 So. 118 (Fla. 1913) (dismissing sua sponte a primary election contest where general election occurred pending appeal). Accord, Board of Public Instruction of Orange County, 167 So. 2d at 307 (noting duty of court to notice intervening act notwithstanding stipulation it should be ignored).

To be sure, the Court need not necessarily dismiss an appeal as moot if it determines to invoke an exception to mootness.

Martinez v. Scanlon, 582 So. 2d 1167 (Fla. 1991). Although West Volusia, Inc., theorizes this Court did not intend to decide retroactivity and did intend to decide a moot case, that theory gets the express statements of the Court exactly backwards. The Court did reject retroactivity, and it did not invoke an exception to mootness.

Therefore, News-Journal submits that the certified question already has been answered, and there is no occasion for the Court to answer it again nor to further justify its decision to the losing party. It would be most appropriate for the Court to deny review, dismiss the appeal, or summarily answer the question in the negative.

C. West Volusia, Inc., has not shown that the initial rejection of retroactivity was improper or dictum.

In specific answer to the arguments in the first point of the initial brief, News-Journal submits as follows:

Footnotes. The cases holding that a footnote is insufficient to preserve a point on appeal are inapplicable to the supplemental proceedings in this case because the issue of retroactivity was presented in the notice of supplemental authority and motion for an order requiring supplemental briefs on the effect, if any, of the act on the case. Moreover, in light of the Court's power and duty to notice and consider new legislation, even if on its own motion,

the footnote argument is immaterial. The point of retroactivity is fundamental. 3

A point is not dictum if it is essential to the Dictum. decision. E.g., McGregor v. Provident Trust Co. of Philadelphia, 162 So. 323 (Fla. 1935) (holding that guestions of law decided on appeal govern the case through all subsequent proceedings); Bunn v. Bunn, 311 So. 2d 387, 389 (Fla. 4th DCA 1975) (explaining that "the views and decisions on an appellate court on issues which are properly raised and decided in disposing of the case are . . . binding on the lower court as the law of the case"). The argument founded on Spector v. Glisson, 305 So. 2d 777 (Fla. 1974), wholly confuses the doctrine of *obiter dictum*. A point of law that is essential to the decision of the case is holding, not dictum, whereas a nonessential point is dictum. McGregor; Bunn. The extent to which the point was briefed or argued is not determinative. See, e.g., Miami Gardens, Inc. v. Conway, 102 So.

³West Volusia, Inc., did not argue the retroactivity issue before Judge Will in the hearing from which this appeal was taken. Only by arguing that the point of retroactivity falls within the doctrine of fundamental error could West Volusia, Inc., justify raising this issue for the first time in the appellate court. Fundamental error is error that is so substantial that it goes to the foundation of the case or to the merits of the cause of action. Monaco, Appellate Practice, Rule 9.210, Section 12 at 279 (citations omitted). The irony of West Volusia, Inc.'s dictum argument, of course, is that if the issue of retroactivity is so fundamental that it goes to the foundation of the case now, then it was equally as fundamental when this Court first rejected retroactivity. News-Journal asserts the issue was fundamental when this Court rejected retroactivity and further agrees that this fundamentality excuses West Volusia, Inc.'s argumentative shift in the district court.

2d 622, 626 (Fla. 1958) (deciding point "not directly presented to this Court on appeal [because it was] fundamental to [the] decision").

Rehearing. News-Journal does not rely on the disposition of the motion for rehearing as the decision of the Court but rather upon the Court's express statement rejecting retroactivity.

Exceptions to Mootness. News-Journal agrees that the Court may decide a moot case under a recognized exception to mootness. However, News-Journal does not understand this Court's decision in West Volusia as such a decision, and it submits that this Court would not decide a moot case without expressly invoking an appropriate exception. See Godwin v. State, 593 So. 2d 211 (Fla. 1992) (explaining exceptions to mootness).

II. IN ANY EVENT, THIS COURT SHOULD REJECT THE CONTENTION THAT THE ACT SHALL APPLY RETROACTIVELY.

In West Volusia, this Court correctly rejected the contention that the act should be given retroactive effect. Under the controlling standards, this act could neither be properly construed as retroactive nor constitutionally applied as retroactive. For either or both reasons, the claim of retroactivity should be rejected.

A. There is no clear legislative expression of intent that the act is to be applied retroactively.

It is well settled that substantive statutes are presumed to apply prospectively. *State v. Lavazzoli*, 434 So. 2d 321 (Fla. 1983). *See also Metropolitan Dade County v. Chase Federal Housing*

Corporation, 737 So. 2d 494, 499 (Fla. 1999) (explaining presumption is based on policy that "retroactive operation of statutes can be harsh and implicate due process concerns"); State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Laforet, 658 So. 2d 55, 61 (Fla. 1995) (explaining that substantive statute is prospective "absent clear legislative intent to the contrary").

When faced with a question of retroactive operation, a court should first look to see whether there is "an express command that the statute is retroactive." *Chase Federal*, 737 So. 2d at 499. Where there is no express command, a court must look to "both the terms of the statute and the purpose of the enactment" to determine whether there is a clear expression of legislative intent as to retroactivity. *Id.* In this case, retroactivity is not indicated by either express command or clear expression in the words and purpose.

There is no express command of retroactivity.

The statute does not expressly command retroactive application. The only statement in the act arguably concerning retroactivity is found in Section 4 where the legislature stated, "This act shall take effect upon becoming law and shall apply to *existing leases* and future leases of public hospitals and other health care facilities." (e.s.). It is readily apparent that this is not an expression of "clear legislative intent" that the act shall apply retroactively. *Chase Federal* at 499.

Section 4 states only that the exemption created by the act applies to leases entered into before the date of enactment. Act, § 4. On the face of the statute, this is not a clear mandate for retroactivity. Literally, the statute purports to make the lease itself exempt rather than records made or received by the lessee or meetings conducted by the lessee. Certainly, section 4 does not expressly state that it applies to preenactment records and meetings (or either) created or conducted by the lessees under *existing leases*.

Some meaning must be supplied to this patently vague effective date clause. If it means anything more than that the lease document is exempt, what does it mean? Two ideas suggest themselves. It could mean that preenactment records (and meetings?) of the *existing lessees* are exempt, but it does not literally say this and there is a presumption against that construction.

On the other hand, it could have been included to make clear that existing lessees are eligible to come within the exemption notwithstanding they previously were under open government laws. Some existing leases specifically require compliance with the open government laws, and the legislature intended that such a clause would not per se disqualify a lessee from the exemption. See section 395.3036(4) (providing that a contractual clause is only one of the factors); Indian River (approving holding that a lessee under an existing lease requiring open government compliance is

prospectively exempt under the act). In that event, the clause means that postenactment records and meetings of *existing lessees* are included within the exemption, as it was construed by the *Indian River* trial court.

Presumptively, this would create an exemption for records and meetings of West Volusia, Inc., but only as to records and meetings arising on and after the effective date of the act on May 30, 1998. In any event, the act on its face does not go so far as to extend the exemption backward in time to records and meetings arising before May 30, 1998.

West Volusia, Inc., says that this argument is "manufactured out of whole cloth." IB 24. It goes through an exercise in which it presumes the statute is intended to apply retroactively and then asserts that the prospective reading requires a "rewrite" of the statute. IB 25. This twists the analysis of *Chase Federal*, and erroneously proceeds from a presumption that the reference to *existing leases* shows intent for the act is retroactive. That gets the statute and the *Chase Federal* analysis backward.

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